
 1 

OFFICE OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 
Peterborough, New Hampshire 

 
CONTOOCOOK VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 
EDUCATION COMMITTEE 

Monday, January 8, 2007 
SAU Office 
7:00 P.M. 

 
MINUTES 

 
Attendees:  Christy Greene, Butch Estey, Arthur Knight, Ray Cote, Gail Cromwell, Tom  
                     Welden, Beverly Bacon, Bart Goodeve, Craig Hicks, Mary Allen, Bill 
                     McKinnon, Joe Hayes, Linda Potter, Keith Burke, Dick Dunning, Sue 
                     Copley 
 
Christy Greene called the meeting to order at 7:08 p.m.   
 

1. Approval of Minutes 
¥ Meeting of December 12, 2006 

Ray Cote motioned to accept the minutes of the December 12, 2006 meeting.  Beverly 
Bacon second.  All in favor.   

 
2. ConVal Graduation Requirements Update 
Gail Cromwell distributed a copy of the current High School Graduation Policy with 
revisions and a copy of the High School Competency Assessments (See Attachment).  
Christy said that we agreed to take under advisement all sides communicated.   
She said that her goal is to have a timeline developed before the end of tonightÕs 
meeting to determine when this will be completed.   
Beverly Bacon asked if we at one time used competencies.  Keith said that in current 
terminology every single course in the high school will have a list of competencies 
for successful passing of the course.  Alternative ways of meeting the competencies 
would also be available.  Other items not linked directly to a course were also a 
requirement for graduation.  For example, each student had to give a speech as well 
as a writing sample scored by a committee.  Beverly asked why we did not continue 
to use competencies.  Keith said that over time it was determined that it did not meet 
our needs.  In addition, it was costly to administer.   
Joe Hayes said that they were minimal essential competencies.  Sue Copley said that 
they were based on very low level recall skills and knowledge.  None of the higher 
order thinking skills was needed.   
Gail Cromwell said that she was unsure why we did not go with the NHSBA 
recommendations.   
Craig Hicks said that before the credit item hits, as stated on the final page of GailÕs 
handout, it states that the Superintendent shall establish rules for implementing this 
policy in cooperation with the high school Principal, and shall be responsible for 



 2 

ensuring that all high school courses include one or more appropriate comprehensive 
exam(s) or other assessment by the start of the 2008 Ð 2009 school year.  Competency 
Assessments will be selected, conducted, and reviewed in conjunction with the 
provisions of Policy ILBA.   
Ray asked about what happens inside the classroom.  Keith said that the State says 
that every school district must have on file a list of competencies for every course in 
the high school.  He believed that we have them now but was unsure how articulated 
each was.  It goes hand in hand with the notion that credit can be accumulated in 
other ways than sitting in the classroom.  Ray asked if the State was saying that in 
order to get credit for a course, competencies must be demonstrated.  Keith said that 
he is unsure if the State has gone so far as to say that one must demonstrate 
competencies in order to get credit for a course.   
Keith said that there is the StateÕs requirement to file competencies for a particular 
course.  One would assume that a student would acquire at least 60%. 
Tom Welden said that his concern is that the competencies might determine how 
many credits we require.  He wouldnÕt want to hire someone that is competent at 
60%.  Tom was concerned that the bar was being lowered.   
Craig Hicks said that we have to put competencies in place by 2008.  We currently 
have 26 credits.  What we are currently doing can be improved upon.  For example, 
16% of the freshmen class is getting either a ÒDÓ or an ÒFÓ in English.  In Algebra I, 
28 kids are getting a ÒDÓ and 11 are getting an ÒFÓ.  His goal is to improve the year 
two or three grades.  Earth Science Ð 25% of the freshmen students are getting a ÒDÓ 
or an ÒFÓ.  He said that this is unacceptable.  Of the seniors, 60 ÒDÕsÓ exist.  Of the 
juniors, 108 ÒDÕsÓ and 160 ÒFÕsÓ in core subject areas exist.  We need to make sure 
that the basic education is good. 
Gail said that if you instruct each teacher to come up with the key ideas in a subject 
that each student should master it would not be difficult to define competency.  If you 
look at the numbers of ÒAÓ ÒBÓ and ÒCÕs there are more higher grades than lower.  
Grade inflation is a problem.  Colleges tend to look more at SATÕs and ACTÕs.  For 
our purposes, a grade of a ÒCÓ would be a reasonable way to determine competence.   
Craig said that we understand what we want out of a graduate.   
Christy asked for the undereducated students, how many times would a student have 
to take a course before they could move on?  At least twice was the response.  Christy 
said that a different kind of goal would have to be arrived at for these students.  Craig 
said that we have students who are seniors with five ÒFÕsÓ and five credits.  We wonÕt 
be able to help everyone. 
Bart said that there should be an opportunity that while complying with the State that 
we have a list on file of what will take place in the classroom.  We should try to 
connect what we need to do for the State with what we need to do for ourselves.  He 
asked Craig about the course subject grade distribution he discussed.  Craig said that 
fulfilling 26 credits is too big a hurdle for some.  He added that he wanted as many 
kids possible with a ConVal diploma to have 16 credits of value.  Bart asked if Craig 
was more concerned with the 16 core credits.  Craig said that it is very important to 
complete the 16 credits identified.  From there, electives will build on the 16 credits.  
Bart said that we have to have a list on file for the State and asked what the process 
for that was.   



 3 

Keith said that the State has tried to develop some templates plus sample 
competencies.  He said that US History could be articulated in much of the same way 
and we might be able to create our own template.  The competencies would be 
similar.   
Ray asked what the minimum grade for receiving credit in the high school was.  Joe 
Hayes said that it was 60%.  Ray said that the change in the core is very important.  
The conversation that makes this work is if 60% is enough.  The 20 credits make so 
much sense for him fiscally.  Ray said that it is important because it has a big impact 
on both the students and the teachers and a decision should not be made lightly.     
Joe Hayes said that wherever we decide to define the relationship between credits and 
competence, if we say that a D- is insufficient, it will take more resources.  The 
resources will be used for remediation and provision of an expansion of opportunities 
for those already competent.  More resources will be required.  We are currently 
trying to gather the competencies in areas provided by the State.  We are trying to use 
a consistent format. 
Tom said that the balance is achievable by raising our standards and lowering the 
credits.  By reducing credits, we will have the play room for students not to take the 
extra six courses which will provide play for those that are required to repeat a 
course.  It enhances the students that we worry about by having a stronger core and 
the skill sets that they need.   
Craig said that having both math and earth science take place over the entire year 
might produce better results.   
Keith said that he made a number of recommendations that are important to address.  
One of the key elements is the idea of planning.  Based upon the legal opinion, it is 
clear that 20 credits becomes the standard for high school graduation.  A lot of 
students will opt for more but there is also reason to doubt that.   
Christy asked if we keep block scheduling and go to 20 credits, how young our 
average graduate would be.  Keith said that we should look at our freshmen class to 
determine what each student is looking for, whether it is continuing on to a four-year 
competitive college or something other.   
Arthur Knight said that he remembers going into his senior year with enough credits 
to graduate.  It was his understanding that he had to do his senior year anyway.  He 
thought that a student should have to have four years of education.   
Keith said that he would have needed four years of English to remain in school.  
Arthur said that there should be a tie of credits and service.   
Keith said that credits should not be a function of the amount of seat time.  
Alternative methods of credit acquisition can be achieved by meeting measures of 
competency.   
Gail Cromwell read the suggested policy on early graduation.   
Mary Allen said that she still hangs on to the possibility of 23 credits.  She doesnÕt 
feel we are at the point of dropping block scheduling.  By the time a kid has gone 
through their junior year they have been through 24 blocks.  She pointed out that if 
we pegged it at 70% it is only 10 points higher than where we currently are.  She 
asked if there are normally lower grades at the beginning of the year.  Joe Hayes said 
that the grades Craig cited are from the first quarter in core areas.  We would have to 



 4 

look to see if the grades held as time went on.  He said that data will be available in 
three weeks.   
Mary said that we have to look at the competencies but be careful where the bar is set.  
Bart motioned to accept Keith’s recommendations 3 – 7.  In addition, we would 
want to see differentiated diplomas, and achieve competencies in place.  These 
must be tied together.   
Gail Cromwell said that she thinks that parents are the key parties here.  Students 
should take more responsibility.   
Bart said that if we want item three with parental consent then we need to state that.   
Tom said that he doesnÕt want to complete only half of what we need.  We can have a 
target and work toward that.  The expectations can be raised as we go along.   
Bill McKinnon said that in terms of establishing plans for each student, unless 
flexibility exists to address core subjects and repeat core subjects, he didnÕt think it 
could be done with 26 credits as the threshold.  Dropping the credits to 20 would 
allow a student to repeat the subject and learn the subject rather then get by with a 
ÒDÓ and get the credits.   
Keith said that he didnÕt feel that any of our graduates are incompetent.  The critical 
point of this is the planning process.  ConVal has been in existence for almost 36 
years and he does not ever recall ConVal dropping back on the amount of credits 
required.  The first thing that is critical is to look at what changing the credits to 20 
would mean.  Focus on the freshmen class by determining their goals should be 
looked at.  Keith outlined what different scenarios might look like for the goals of 
different students.  The plan has to do with what your goal is at the end of high 
school.  In order to meet the needs, what do we as a school district need to provide?  
If the majority of students opt for the 20 credit minimum, then decisions would have 
to be made.   
Bill McKinnon asked Keith if he felt that some students only needed 20 credits.  
Keith replied that when looking at the end point of what a students desires, we would 
need to look at the credit requirements to get there.  The 20 credit program meets the 
needs of students desiring to go into the work force right out of high school.  He 
suggested that we get a picture of what the needs are of students before moving 
forward.   
Bill McKinnon said that if it is really individual plans for all, and some students can 
go with 20, we might as well set that as our minimum.   
Ray Cote said he supported the SuperintendentÕs recommendation to survey the 
students.  He suggested that we survey the juniors because they have been through the 
school and are looking toward senior year.  We could ask them if 20 credits were in 
place, would they be gone today.  Secondly, no matter what decision we make, there 
will be unintended consequences.  Students may drop out because they canÕt achieve 
the credits or they might have something click when taking a course for the third 
time.  Maybe by raising the bar we allow students to catch up.  Ray asked if it was 
possible to ever come off of block scheduling with our ATC.   
Keith said that it would be possible because it existed prior to the block.   
Joe Hayes said that there are many different iterations of the block that incorporate 
shorter classes.  There may be a better idea that incorporates both.   



 5 

Ray added that there is a motion on the table to move forward.  He said that he is in 
favor of the motion. 
Gail said that she is opposed to number seven.  Outlines for students heading in 
different directions are already laid out.  She said that we know that at least two-thirds 
of our graduates are going on to college.  The difference is for that student who 
desires to go on to technical school.  We have to made fundamental changes in how 
we look at students.  We have to be more flexible.  She did not object to number three 
or differentiated diplomas.  She was opposed to number seven.  In terms of ConVal 
never having gone down in credit, she doesnÕt think that there was a solid reason for 
going up to twenty-six credits.   
Bill McKinnon amended the motion to include a move to a twenty credit 
minimum in conjunction with the points raised. 
Craig Hicks second.   
Mary Allen asked why not twenty three.   
Bart said that we should deal with the issues of planning and competency as one 
motion and then we can fight for the credit requirement.   
Bill said that we couldnÕt plan.   
Bart and Mary agreed that we could plan, we plan now.   
Bill said that the planning has to do with the credits.  Mary said that students will plan 
for those credits now and how to add on them. 
Bill said that if the book says 26, part of the plan is how they will meet 26.   
Bart said that the argument that Bill and Gail make reinforce his worse fear.  How can 
we toss number seven out of the equation?  Bart said that he would like us to adopt 3 
through 7 and continue to debate the number of credits required to graduate.  Mary 
agreed. 
Gail asked what a competency based transcript was?  She feels that it is a four page 
transcript in great length.  They are a real negative.   
Bart said he would like to see this directed to a methodology toward grade point 
distribution.   
Gail said that she felt it would hurt our students in the college process. 
Keith said that the State has standards for competency based transcripts.  They 
receive a grade and how they received credit is outlined.  Examples could be 
provided.  Craig asked why we have to separate.   
Bart said that he cannot adopt the 20 credit requirement.   
Christy said that we still have Board members who are not fully convinced about all 
of the positives of this issue.  When looking at granting alternative credit, Christy said 
that it will change the face of our school.   
Ray said that the thing he sees that is missing is that we have not raised the 
competency.  The comment was made earlier that ConVal had never reduced the 
credit requirements before.  For the first time, we will be raising the requirements for 
passing a course.   
Keith said that he wants to make sure that the education committee does not lose sight 
of what the curriculum committee recommended.  They recommended a twenty credit 
diploma for a select few and twenty-six for everyone else.  Now we have a group of 
people fueled by forums in the public.  No one has recommended a twenty credit 
diploma who serves on a committee. 



 6 

Beverly said that the question was asked about accepting the original document at the 
last meeting.  The vote was split.   
Craig said that from one meeting to the next, it is difficult to get the same answer.  He 
said that we can provide as many credit diplomas as we would like.  Bart said that we 
canÕt do that.  Craig said that we were going to bring a 20 credit for all and a 26 
diploma of distinction forward.   
Joe Hayes said that the group never abandoned the idea of the 26 minimum credit 
requirement for fear that students would take the road of least resistance and not take 
the challenge.  It is still a concern of the committee.  If the 26 credit diploma is 
abandoned, the committee would not support moving forward. 
Christy said that we are all committed to a quality education.   
Craig said that Christy did not say a quality education for all. 
Bart suggested that we zero in on the motions. 
Mary asked about the 20 credit motion Bill made.  When she looks at the open 
electives proposed she asked if it met State standards.  Keith said that it did.   
Mary said if you put six credits on, we move closer to 23 credits. 
Craig asked how he would be insured that we would address this for the population 
that he is trying to address.  We are always worried about the percentage of students 
who will achieve 26 and beyond credit.   
Tom Welden asked when the lead plan was brought about.  Keith said that it was in 
2000/2001.  Tom said that number three was in there as a core fundamental.  If we 
donÕt have definitive targets, Tom felt we would not get there.  Tom read from the 
report on skills of the American workforce.  He said that if we raise the competencies 
the 20 credits would not be of concern.  In addition, he said that KeithÕs 
recommendation was made on seat time.   
 
Christy surmised that the motion was made by Bart and an amendment was 
made by Bill. 
A vote in favor of Bill’s amendment would mean that the motion would be not 
only passing 3 – 7 but also finalizing our graduation requirements at 20 credits. 
Mary Allen said point of order.  This vote would be on the recommendation to 
take it to the full Board.   
Christy said that Stewart could not support a 20 credit diploma.  He could go for 
26 and live with 23.   
 
Christy called for a vote on Bill’s amendment on Bart’s motion.   
Gail said that both of these motions should be tabled because it had no meaning.  
Looking at 3 – 7, there are things that are our business and some which are the 
high school’s business. 
 
Bart’s motion is that we recommend the adoption of the Superintendent’s 
recommendations 3- 7 and the report he presented. 
Bill’s amendment is to do that and set the minimum credit requirement for 
graduation at 20.   
Bart clarified that his motion is to adopt those five things.  Bill’s is for those five 
things and a 20 credit minimum requirement. 



 7 

Craig said that he is concerned with the timeline.  Years go by.  We are rushing to get 
something in motion.  He is concerned with when the 20 will be in motion.  How are 
we going to mesh this all together?  What are all of these different components and 
how are they going to come together?   
Craig asked that both be taken off the table to develop an action plan and then 
revisit this.   
Ray said that he would vote against both because he feels that it is a package that we 
are talking about.  BartÕs piece is a big one, things seem to get lost.  This is not a new 
conversation.  He felt that a draft with bullet items and timeline needs to be 
developed.  The motion is not precise considering the importance and impact.  He 
said that he is not ready to recommend. 
 
Bart withdrew his motion.   Bill withdrew his amendment. 
 
Gail said that if we look at the School Board policy, it is exactly what we want.  The 
requirements are listed and ours are not the same.  Gail said that everything is there 
except the planning process.   
Bart asked how we define competency and where do we rest the bar.  Until we 
address this we canÕt make a decision. 
 
Tom said that he felt it was a full Board issue.  A lot of us are confused.  We can 
clean it up and bring it back to the Board on the 23rd.   
Christy agreed and asked for volunteers to be on the committee.     
Keith suggested that this question be asked before the full Board.   
 
3. Technology Plan Status 
Keith said that the Technology plan has been filed with the State.   
 
4. Foreign Language Committee 
Bart Goodeve said that the last meeting took place with Keith, Paul, himself and 
language teachers to plan and develop the report.  The language teachers were excited 
about looking at this.  At this point there is no work product.   
Bill McKinnon asked if the ÒwhyÓ teach foreign language was arrived at.  Bart said 
that he did not have notes with him but understood that to be the first charge of the 
committee. 

¥ Rationale 
 
¥ Next Steps 
 

5. Other 
 
Christy Greene called the meeting to a close at 9:06 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Brenda L. Marschok 


